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2001 attests to management’s successful
execution of the Company’s growth strategy.
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Left to right: Julio Rojo, Manager, Mining and Milling Operations, Minera Bonanza and Revemin mill; Theodore Apodaca, General
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$
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1.85

Third Quarter

3.45

1.65

2.95

1.70

disciplined growth through internal development of

Fourth Quarter
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exploration properties and the acquisition of producing
and near-term production properties in high potential
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WELCOME TO THE 2001 CRYSTALLEX

ANNUAL REPORT
Welcome! This year’s annual report focuses on the
numbers that are most important to Crystallex’s
shareholders, stakeholders, and others involved
with the gold mining industry. The Company is
pleased that these numbers indicate excellent
progress and growth resulting from the persistent
execution of a strategy developed more than five
years ago by the Crystallex management team
and working Board of Directors. We hope you will
enjoy reading about this strategy and Crystallex’s
Year In Numbers.
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To Our Shareholders,
Those involved in the gold mining industry

Net income was effected by the increase in

know that there is no magic formula for success. But

operating costs experienced as we accelerated our

by steadfastly adhering to a well-considered strategy

activities and assimilated the El Callao and Bolivar

and paying close attention to a limited set of vital

Goldfields acquisitions. We also encountered lower

numbers, excellent growth can be achieved. I have

average gold prices and additional expenses related

discussed Crystallex’s acquisition and internal

to upgrading our mills and preparing our Charlie

development strategy in previous shareholder reports

Richards and Albino 1 mines for underground

and I am pleased to say, with the past year as proof,

operations. Although these activities reduced our

that it continues to work. This year’s report focuses

net income in the short term, they significantly

on the numbers.

increased our production profile and will result
in greater throughput and efficiency at our mills

During 2001, we brought together the

to support our additional mining output.

acquisitions made in previous years, expanded and
proved our gold reserves, upgraded our mills and set

In 2001, our production increased to 109,647

the stage for future growth. That’s what we said we

ounces, 15 percent above the 95,563 ounces produced

would do and that’s what we did. Beyond that, we

in 2000. Of this, 66,957 ounces came from our San

produced record revenues, continued reinvesting our

Gregorio mine in Uruguay and 43,281 ounces were

cash flows and increased assets and shareholders’

produced by our Revemin mill in Venezuela. This

equity. We accomplished these things under very

represents a tenfold increase from the 10,100 ounces

difficult conditions in the gold market and at a time

that we produced a mere five years ago.

when the world economy was slipping into a recession.
By the end of 2001, our total gold reserves had
For 2001, Crystallex’s assets increased

grown as well, reaching nearly 1.0 million ounces, with

20 percent to $198 million. Shareholders’ equity

resources of 3.8 million ounces. Charts containing

expanded to $144 million, a 29 percent increase.

specifics of our reserve/resource calculations appear

We had the highest revenue in Company history

in the next section of this annual report.

at $55.6 million, a 16 percent increase over the
$47.7 million in 2000. Our net income was $68,394

During the past year, Crystallex maintained

or $0.00 per share, compared with $3.3 million or

mining operations in both Uruguay and Venezuela.

$0.06 per share that we reported the previous year.

Our San Gregorio mine in Uruguay, which we acquired
in 1998, provided the bulk of the ore processed as

C R YS TA L L E X I N T E R N AT I O N A L C O R P O R AT I O N

it had in the previous year. We purposely limited

two latter mines and the phased mill expansions will

operations in the San Gregorio main pit in the third

allow for the much higher production rates that are in

quarter of 2001 while we evaluated the drilling results

our plans for the future. The efficiency gained through

from the Santa Teresa ore body just west of the main

the hub and spoke strategy will reduce our processing

pit and prepared it for mining. The first blast took

costs and will lower them even further as mill

place in September, and we have been processing ore

throughput increases.

from Santa Teresa since that time. Additional drilling
in the area adjacent to the Santa Teresa ore body has

Throughout 2001, we made preparations for

also indicated mineralization that could increase our

new underground operations at the Charlie Richards

reserves at San Gregorio.

and Albino 1 deposits. According to a study conducted
for us last year by Mine Development Associates of

While the production at San Gregorio was

Reno, Nevada, the combined mineral reserves of the

marginally lower than last year, additional ore was

portion of the two deposits included in the study total

being mined from the La Victoria and Tomi mines in

nearly 436,000 tonnes with an average grade of

Venezuela. This offset the slightly lower production

12.67 grams per tonne. The gross capital required

from our Uruguayan operations and kept our total

to develop both of these operations will be US$15.3

gold production goal for the year on target.

million (US$86 per ounce) and the cash operating
cost to produce gold from these mines is expected to

All of the ore that we mined in Venezuela

be US$137 per ounce. Using our typical gold price of

during 2001 was processed at our Revemin mill

US$300 per ounce, the concurrent mining of these two

facility in the El Callao gold region. It is a key

deposits should yield a pretax internal rate of return

element in the efficient “hub and spoke” strategy

of 84 percent. We expect to be mining material from

that we have implemented for all our Venezuelan

Charlie Richards by mid year and from Albino 1 by the

operations. Since our mill is accessible by highway

end of 2002. These two operations will each provide

trucks, we can use this facility to process ore from

300 tonnes per day of ore to the Revemin mill.

all of our current Venezuelan mines. The strategically
located Revemin mill is being upgraded to increase

While we made great strides in developing our

its current capacity by 20 percent. The mill currently

production profile in 2001, we also continued our

can accommodate ore from La Victoria and Tomi as

efforts to assert our rights to the Cristinas 4 and 6

well as our new underground operations at Charlie

concessions in Venezuela’s Kilometre 88 gold region. In

Richards and Albino 1. The higher-grade ore from the

the fourth quarter of 2001, the Venezuelan authorities

C R YS TA L L E X I N T E R N AT I O N A L C O R P O R AT I O N
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cancelled MINCA’s mining rights to Las Cristinas,

underground mines. This increased production in

a move resulting in possession of the concessions

Venezuela will further improve the efficiency of

reverting back to the Venezuelan government. We

our Revemin mill and the new gold deposits being

view this as very favorable, particularly in the context

mined at Santa Teresa will enhance our San Gregorio

of the productive discussions we have had with the

operation in Uruguay. The acquisitions that we made

government and their enthusiastic response to the

over the past few years and that are now incorporated

three-phase plan for Cristinas that we presented to

into our operations are poised to make greater

them in November 2000.

contributions to revenue and cash flow in the months
ahead. That, along with the momentum we have

Crystallex’s accomplishments gained greater
recognition in the investment community during 2001,

created over the past five years, strongly supports
our optimism for 2002 and beyond.

and the list of large long-term strategic investors who
have taken positions in our stock continued to grow. In

Ultimately, our growth over the past year has

November 2001, Crystallex was added to the TSE 300

been due to the efforts of our strong Board of Directors,

Composite Index, the TSE 300 Capped Indices in the

our management team and our employees. I wish to

Gold and Precious Metals Group and the Materials

thank them for their hard work and dedication. But

Sector of the S&P/TSE Canadian SmallCap Index. Most

above all, I wish to thank all the Crystallex shareholders

importantly, our activities during the year appear to

and stakeholders for their loyalty and support that

have had a positive impact on our stock price. From

will continue to be a vital element in the Company’s

the last trading day of 2000 to the last trading day

success.

of 2001, Crystallex shares gained 129 percent on the
Toronto Stock Exchange and 102 percent on the AMEX.
In 2002, we will be presented with many of the

Sincerely,

same challenges that we met in the previous year, and
perhaps some new ones. We will continue to operate
in a gold market that will challenge us to find new
ways to make our operations more efficient. But, in

SIGNED

addition to the San Gregorio and La Victoria mines,

Marc J. Oppenheimer

we will have two new growth engines in 2002 with

President and Chief Executive Officer

the initiation of the Charlie Richards and Albino 1

Venezuela
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Tomi
Albino 1
Lo Increible
Revemin Mill
Las Cristinas

1

3
4

2
5

Uruguay
1. Minera San Gregorio

1

0
2

%

THE FIRST PHASE OF THE

REVEMIN MILL EXPANSION WILL
INCREASE ITS PROCESSING

CAPACITY BY

20%

TO KEEP

PACE WITH THE COMPANY ’ S
EXPANDING PRODUCTION
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Uruguay - Minera San Gregorio
In 1998, Crystallex acquired Minera San

recovery rate above 90 percent. The improvements

Gregorio in Uruguay, which included an operating

in productivity and the metallurgical recovery rates

open pit mine, a mill and 150,000 hectares of promising

effected by the Company’s mining team reduced the

exploration property. Although the property’s assets

cash cost of production at San Gregorio from US$281

were booked at nearly US$69 million, Crystallex made

per ounce (before the acquisition) to approximately

the acquisition for US$29 million, of which US$7 million

US$230 per ounce in 2001.

came from internally generated cash, US$6 million
In the third quarter of 2001, the Company

from the liquidation of unneeded assets of the
acquired property and US$16 million from non-

began processing material from the Santa Teresa ore

recourse project financing.

body, west of the San Gregorio main pit. This material
is metallurgically similar to that which is currently

The San Gregorio operation had not been

being processed at the San Gregorio mill. In addition,

profitable under the previous owners. Therefore, even

drilling near Santa Teresa has yielded favorable

before the acquisition was complete, the Crystallex

results that may increase the Company’s reserves

mining team had begun introducing productivity

in Uruguay.

improvements that would lower costs and improve
The San Gregorio mine has been an excellent

cash flow. Since then, San Gregorio has been a
profitable operation, producing gold at an average

acquisition from day one. It is an example of the type

annual rate of approximately 65,000 ounces.

of high potential acquisition Crystallex seeks; one
whose true value is not reflected in its price, but in

The mill at San Gregorio, originally designed to

potential cash flow that can be maximized through

process 2,650 tonnes per day has undergone a series

the application of best mining practices to increase

of upgrades that by the end of 2001 had increased its

efficiency and productivity.

throughput to 3,100 tonnes per day with an average

SAN GREGORIO
Tonnes
(g/t Au)

Grade
(g/t Au)

Indicated

11,531,007

1.24

0.5

Inferred

609,000

1.19

0.5

4,986,771

1.50

0.7

As of December 31, 2001

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

Gold Price

Mineral Resources

Mineral Reserves
Probable

US$ 275

1.

The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.

2.

Calculation Method: Medsystem Modeling Techniques.

3.

Resource and Reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the standards of disclosure
of National Instrument 43—101.

4.

Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

5.

The estimates of mineral resources and mineral reserves of the Company’s properties were verified by
Dr. Luca Riccio, P.Geo, President of Riccio Geoconsulting Ltd., a qualified person for purposes of National
Instrument 43-101, who is employed by Crystallex as Vice President of Exploration.
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Venezuela - Tomi
Cash flow from the Company’s San Gregorio

Results of a bankable feasibility study

operation contributed significantly to the June 2000

conducted for Crystallex by Mine Development

acquisition of the Revemin mill and Tomi concession

Associates (MDA) of Reno, Nevada, were reported in

in Venezuela’s Bolivar State. The US$20 million

November 2001. According to MDA, that portion of

purchase price consisted of a US$5 million cash

the Charlie Richards deposit included in the study

payment, a US$2 million 90-day note and the

contained 162,730 tonnes of proven and probable

assumption of US$13 million in existing long-term

underground reserves grading at 14.48 grams per

debt. The concession includes four deposits:

tonne calculated at a gold price of US$265 per ounce,

McKenzie, Milagrito, Fosforito and Charlie Richards.

with a cutoff of 5 grams per tonne. This is in addition
to some 94,000 tonnes of open pit reserves grading

The Tomi deposits were originally developed

5.61 grams per tonne with a cutoff of 1.74 grams per

as open pit operations. However, recent drilling by

tonne. During November 2001, Crystallex collared

Crystallex has demonstrated that there is also

the portal and started the decline that will access the

significant potential for high-grade underground

underground reserves at the Tomi mine. By year-end,

deposits on this property, especially at Charlie Richards.

50 metres of decline had been completed.

TOMI
As of December 31, 2001

Tonnes
(g/t Au)

Grade
(g/t Au)

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

1,814,095
451,000

4.05
3.14

1.0
1.0

1,040,163
162,730

3.14
14.48

1.0
5.0

Gold Price

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred

Mineral Reserves
Probable (Open Pit)
Probable (Underground)
1.
2.

US$ 265
US$ 265

4.

The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
Calculation Methods: Medsystem and Gemcom Modeling Techniques for Indicated Mineral Resources
and Mineral Reserves. Cross Sectional Polygonal for Inferred Mineral Resources.
Resource and Reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the standards of disclosure
of National Instrument 43—101.
Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

5.

The estimates of mineral resources and mineral reserves of the Company’s properties were verified by

3.

Dr. Luca Riccio, P.Geo, President of Riccio Geoconsulting Ltd., a qualified person for purposes of National
Instrument 43-101, who is employed by Crystallex as Vice President of Exploration.

0

2

%

ASSETS INCREASED
TO

$198

20%

MILLION

9

2

%

SHAREHOLDERS ’ EQUITY

EXPANDED TO
A

29%

$144

MILLION ,

INCREASE
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Venezuela - Albino 1
Economies of scale come into play when the

As a result, the Company will be driving an

Charlie Richards output is combined with that from

underground ramp and plans to begin underground

Crystallex’s planned second underground operation at

mining at Albino 1 in the fourth quarter 2002.

Albino 1. Albino 1, the Company’s first mine and mill

Additional resources on the concession grading

operation, produced gold from an open pit from 1995

5 grams per tonne may also be mineable in the future.

until 1998. Extensive drilling on the property during
Charlie Richards and Albino 1 will each be mined

that time identified a high-grade deposit below the
saprolite. The previously discussed Charlie Richards

at a rate of 300 tonnes per day at a cash operating

study, completed by Mine Development Associates

cost of US$137 per ounce. The gross capital required

(MDA) of Reno, Nevada, which also included portions

to develop both operations is US$86 per ounce. By

of Albino 1, concluded that the Conductora and Aguao

mining Charlie Richards and Albino 1 concurrently, the

II sections of Albino 1 contain nearly 180,000 tonnes

Company expects to achieve a pretax internal rate of

of proven and probable underground reserves grading

return of 84 percent at a US$300 gold price. That is

more than 14.6 grams per tonne with a cutoff at

a base price the Company has historically achieved

8 grams per tonne based on a gold price of US$270.

through its hedging programs.

ALBINO
As of December 31, 2001

Tonnes
(g/t Au)

Grade
(g/t Au)

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

3,268,000
1,780,000

4.02
1.66

1.0
1.0

82,040
96,830

14.82
14.66

8.0
8.0

Gold Price

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred

Mineral Reserves
Proven
Probable
1.
2.

US$ 270
US$ 270

4.

The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
Calculation Methods: Cross Sectional Polygonal for Mineral Resources. Medsystem Modeling
Techniques for Mineral Reserves.
Resource and Reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the standards of disclosure
of National Instrument 43—101.
Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

5.

The estimates of mineral resources and mineral reserves of the Company’s properties were verified by

3.

Dr. Luca Riccio, P.Geo, President of Riccio Geoconsulting Ltd., a qualified person for purposes of National
Instrument 43-101, who is employed by Crystallex as Vice President of Exploration.
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Venezuela - Lo Increible
In February 2001, Crystallex completed the

aggregating 15.0 million tonnes at 3.26 grams per

acquisition of a controlling interest in Lo Increible,

tonne can be upgraded to indicated resources by

a pre-feasibility stage gold property located in

tightening the drill pattern within the presently

Venezuela’s El Callao gold district. The acquisition

delineated deposits.

was in the form of a take-over bid for the shares
The largest of the six deposits is La Victoria,

of El Callao Mining Corp (ECM) and the purchase
of certain assets from its principal shareholder.

which accounts for over 50 percent of Lo Increible’s

Crystallex issued 2.4 million shares to acquire

resources and reserves. Indicated resources consist of

approximately 80 percent of the outstanding

4.9 million tonnes at 3.14 g/t and inferred resources

shares of ECM. In addition, the Company paid

consist of 8.6 million tonnes at 3.19 g/t.

US$7.6 million to purchase certain assets as
well as debt of ECM held by Bema Gold Corporation.

In April 2001, Crystallex began phase one of
mining at La Victoria to verify the geologic model
and the metallurgical recovery of the deposit. By

Lo Increible is a 10,000 hectare property
consisting of six gold deposits containing indicated

year-end, 269,000 tonnes grading at 3.15 grams

resources of 8.7 million tonnes grading 3.39 grams

per tonne were processed yielding 24,561 ounces

per tonne and probable open pit reserves of 5.1 million

of gold at a recovery rate of 90 percent. In October,

tonnes at 3.13 grams per tonne at a gold price of

Crystallex began an extensive drilling program to

US$325 per ounce. Previous drilling by Bema Gold

more accurately quantify the resources at La Victoria.

Corporation has also shown that inferred resources

The drill results were still being compiled at year-end.

LO INCREIBLE
As of December 31, 2001

Tonnes
(g/t Au)

Grade
(g/t Au)

Cutoff
(g/t Au)

8,709,136
15,033,038

3.39
3.26

1.0
1.0

5,054,331

3.13

1.2

Gold Price

Mineral Resources
Indicated
Inferred

Mineral Reserves
Probable
1.
2.
3.

US$ 325

4.

The Mineral Reserves are included in the Mineral Resources.
Calculation Method: Medsystem and Gemcom Modeling Techniques.
Resource and Reserve estimates have been made in accordance with the standards of disclosure
of National Instrument 43-101.
Mineral resources, which are not mineral reserves, do not have demonstrated economic viability.

5.

The estimates of mineral resources and mineral reserves of the Company’s properties were verified by
Dr. Luca Riccio, P.Geo, President of Riccio Geoconsulting Ltd., a qualified person for purposes of National
Instrument 43-101, who is employed by Crystallex as Vice President of Exploration.

6
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Venezuela - Revemin Mill
A major part of Crystallex’s strategy in

In 2001, most of the ore processed at the

Venezuela revolves around its Revemin mill. Located

Revemin mill came from the Tomi mine and La

in the El Callao gold district, Revemin is considered

Victoria, and minor amounts came from various

by the Company to be the most important part of the

other concessions. In 2002, this processing support

Tomi acquisition. Its value lies in its proximity to all

will be extended to the Charlie Richards underground

of the Company’s Venezuelan gold concessions and

operation in El Callao and the Albino 1 mine in

their access to it is via good roads. Because of its

Kilometre 88. The Revemin mill currently has

location, the Revemin mill gives Crystallex the ability

sufficient capacity to handle the Company’s 2002

to take advantage of high potential opportunities in

processing goal of 1,500 tonnes per day. The first

all three of Venezuela’s major gold regions and avoid

phase of the mill expansion will increase its

the cost of building separate processing operations

processing capacity by 20 percent to keep pace with

on each mining concession.

the Company’s expanding production. A second phase
expansion, presently planned for 2003, will increase
processing capacity to 3,000 tonnes per day.

C R YS TA L L E X I N T E R N AT I O N A L C O R P O R AT I O N

Venezuela - Las Cristinas
In 1997, Crystallex acquired the rights to the

Economy.” They went on to say “Crystallex is in

Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions through the purchase

position within the shortest possible time to become

of Inversora Mael, the entity that has been the

the largest producer of gold in Venezuela.”

registered titleholder since 1986. Although ownership
of the concessions remains at issue, the Supreme

The phased concept for Las Cristinas provides

Court of Venezuela confirmed the validity of the

a steadier ramp-up of gold production and more

transfer of the concessions to Inversora Mael in

gradual start-up costs than would a single-phase

decisions handed down in 1991, 1996 and 1997.

approach. Therefore, financing required for each of

Again, in 2000, in contrast to an adverse decision in

the first two phases can potentially be repaid from

June 1998, rulings by the Supreme Court supported

project cash flows before the next phase begins, and

the Company’s legal standing to pursue its rights in

due to expected cash flows, the third phase may not

relation to these concessions.

require outside financing at all.

Since then, the Company has presented a

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Venezuelan

US$400 million three-phase plan for the Cristinas

authorities cancelled MINCA’s (one of the opposing

concessions to the Energy and Mines Commission of

parties) mining rights to Las Cristinas, and possession

the Venezuelan National Assembly. Subsequently, the

of the concessions reverted back to the Venezuelan

Commission issued a statement saying, “Crystallex’s

government. This removed yet another obstacle

proposed US$400 million Las Cristinas project will

to the final resolution of the Cristinas issue and

give great impulse to the Regional and National

Crystallex remains very optimistic about the outcome.

C R YS TA L L E X I N T E R N AT I O N A L C O R P O R AT I O N

pg.

16 –17

Board and Management Team

The backbone of Crystallex is its

Led by President and Chief Executive

and operation. Prior to joining

working board of directors and its

Officer, Marc J. Oppenheimer, the

Crystallex, he was Vice President

Crystallex management team holds

of Operations for Royal Oak Mines

equally impressive credentials in their

as well as General Manager of the

have been chosen because of their

fields of expertise. Mr. Oppenheimer,

Iron Ore Company of Canada. He

experience or expertise in a facet

who has served as the President,

has a degree in mining engineering

of business or government that

Chief Executive Officer and a Board

and received his Doctorate from

is vital to the Company’s growth

member of Crystallex, since February

the University of London.

management team, all of whom

and development.

1995, has a strong background in
business and finance. Prior to coming

Dr. Luca M. Riccio, P.Geo, Vice

to Crystallex, he held executive

President of Exploration, joined

Crystallex Chairman, Robert A. Fung

positions at Chase Manhattan Bank

the Crystallex management team

exemplifies the character and quality

and Midlantic National Bank. He

in December 1996. He is a geologist

of the Crystallex Board of Directors.

has also served as Executive Vice

and has over 25 years of experience,

Prior to his appointment as Chairman

President and Chief Financial Officer

which includes consulting for BP

in February 1998, Mr. Fung was

of a multi-national, publicly traded

Minerals, Homestake and other

a Director of Crystallex and Vice

company. Immediately before joining

large successful mining companies.

Chairman of Gordon Capital

Crystallex, Mr. Oppenheimer was

Dr. Riccio is a Fellow of the

Corporation, a Canadian investment

engaged in merchant banking

Geological Association of Canada.

bank, where he oversaw a broad

activities and was a consultant

range of investment activities.

to the Company.

Currently, he is Deputy-Chairman

The speed of Crystallex’s growth and
the ultimate value of the Company

of Yorkton Securities and Senior

Daniel R. Ross, Executive Vice

depend upon a number of factors.

Partner of Capital West Group.

President and Corporate Counsel,

Some, like the character of the

In addition, Mr. Fung serves as

has been a member of the Board of

management team and Board of

Chairman of the Task Force to

Directors of Crystallex since 1996.

Directors, the efficiency of

redevelop Toronto’s Waterfront,

In September 2001, Mr. Ross retired

operations and the quality of

a C$12 billion redevelopment project

from his position as a Partner at

acquisitions can be finely managed.

and one of the largest urban renewal

McCarthy Tetrault, one of Canada’s

Some, like the market price of

projects ever undertaken in the

largest law firms, and joined the

gold, can only be impacted by the

history of Canada. He is also a

Crystallex management team full

Company’s hedging programs, but

member of the Board of Directors

time. Over the past three years, he

cannot be totally controlled. Still

of a number of private and charitable

was instrumental in the negotiation

others may best be managed simply

organizations, as well as a Director

and completion of Crystallex’s mining

through good corporate citizenship.

of the Government of Canada’s

acquisitions.

Crystallex management is committed

Export Development Corporation,

to manage each of these factors

and various other Government

Dr. Sadek El-Alfy, Vice President of

appropriately in order to provide

of Canada advisory boards

Operations, has more than 20 years

disciplined growth for the Company

and agencies.

of experience in mine management

and greater value for its shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE TWELVE MONTH PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of operations of
Crystallex International Corporation (“Crystallex” or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements and the notes. The Company prepares and files it consolidated
financial statements and MD&A in Canadian dollars.
Crystallex and its subsidiaries are engaged in gold mining and related activities, including exploration,
extraction, processing, and reclamation. Gold, our primary commodity, is produced in Uruguay (production
includes a nominal amount of silver as an ancillary commodity) in the San Gregorio mill, as well as in
Venezuela in the Revemin mill.

Key Highlights
•

Completed the takeover bid of El Callao Mining Corporation (“ECM”) and received approximately
80% of the outstanding shares of ECM.

•

Started mining and milling ore from its La Victoria open pit.

•

Commenced a 10,000 metre diamond drill program focused on converting the inferred resources at
the Victoria open pit into mineable reserves.

•

Concluded a positive feasibility study on the Albino and Charlie Richards underground deposits
in Venezuela, prepared by Mine Development Associates (“MDA”) Reno, Nevada.

•

Collared the portal for the new Charlie Richards underground mine and advanced the decline by 50
metres by year-end.

•

Commissioned a water treatment plan for the San Gregorio facility in Uruguay.

•

Advanced discussions with the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela with the objective of successfully
resolving the issues regarding Las Cristinas 4 & 6.

•

Chosen by Standard and Poor’s for inclusion in the TSE-300 Index.

•

Consummated a $7 million private placement with the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement
Board and Kilmer Van Nostrand.

•

Increased cash position to $14.4 million from $4.4 million and increased equity base to approximately
$144 million from $111 million.

Results of Operations
For the twelve month period ended December 31, 2001, the Company reported a net income of $68,394, or
$0.00 per share, compared to net income of $3.3 million, or $0.06 per share in 2000 and a net profit of
$5.3 million, or $0.13 per share in 1999. The gross cash contribution in 2001 was $15.7 million as compared
to $17.2 million during 2000 and $16.1 million during 1999. Net operating cash flow was $10.5 million or $0.15
per share compared to $11.0 million or $0.21 in 2000 and $2.7 million or $0.07 in 1999.

C R YS TA L L E X I N T E R N AT I O N A L C O R P O R AT I O N

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue from gold sales of $55.6 million in 2001 was up from $47.7 million and $35.9 million in 2000 and
1999 respectively reflecting the acquisition of Bolivar Goldfields A.V.V. (“Bolivar Goldfields”), which the
Company completed during the third quarter of 2000 and the acquisition of ECM, completed in the first
quarter of 2001. The Company produced 109,647 ounces of gold compared to 95,563 ounces in 2000 and
76,889 ounces in 1999. Of the 109,647 ounces of gold in 2001, 66,957 ounces (approximately 61%) is from
Uruguay and 42,690 ounces (approximately 39%) is from the Revemin mill in Venezuela. During the period,
the Company realized average revenue of $507 per ounce (equivalent to US$327) as compared to $499 per
ounce (equivalent to US$333) for the same period in 2000 and $467 per ounce (equivalent to US$314).

Statistics

Revenue ($thousand)
Gross cash contribution ($thousand)
Net income ($thousand)
Net operating cash flow ($thousand)

2001

2000

1999

55,593

47,733

35,908

15,746

17,196

16,078

68

3,305

5,273

10,505

11,018

2,693

109,647

95,563

76,889

Cash production cost (US$ per ounce)

223

208

175

Average price realized (US$ per ounce)

327

333

314

Average spot price (US$ per ounce)

271

279

279

Production (ounces of gold)

Production
In 2001, Crystallex produced from both the San Gregorio mill and the Revemin mill, whereas in the earlier
period, the Company produced for a full year from the San Gregorio mill but only produced in Venezuela for
part of the year.

Gold Production
2001

2000

1999

66,957

72,025

76,889

San Gregorio Mill, Uruguay:
Production (ounces of gold)
Ore tonnes milled (thousand)

1,092

1,087

1,088

Grade (grams/tonne)

2.1

2.2

2.4

Recovery (%)

91

93

93

218

216

175

Cash production cost (US$ per ounce)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2001

2000

1999

42,690

23,538

N/A

438

190

N/A

Revemin Mill, Venezuela*:
Production (ounces of gold)
Ore tonnes milled (thousand)
Grade (grams/tonne)

3.4

4.1

N/A

Recovery (%)

90

95

N/A

230

183

N/A

2001

2000

1999

11,132

22,676

N/A

Cash production cost (US$ per ounce)

Tomi Mine*:
Production (ounces of gold)
Ore tonnes milled (thousand)

122

187

N/A

Grade (grams/tonne)

3.1

4.0

N/A

Recovery (%)

92

95

N/A

26,504

N/A

N/A

297

N/A

N/A

Grade (grams/tonne)

3.1

N/A

N/A

Recovery (%)

90

N/A

N/A

5,054

862

N/A

19

3

N/A

Grade (grams/tonne)

9.0

8.3

N/A

Recovery (%)

90

98

N/A

La Victoria Mine:
Production (ounces of gold)
Ore tonnes milled (thousand)

Other Concessions:
Production (ounces of gold)
Ore tonnes milled (thousand)

* For portion of year controlled by Crystallex.

Operations
During 2001, operations contributed gross cash of $15.7 million as compared to $17.2 million in 2000 and
$16.1 million during 1999. The increased operating expenses in 2001 of $39.8 million as compared to $30.5
million in 2000 and $19.8 million in 1999 reflected a full year of operations in Venezuela in 2001 as
compared to a partial year in 2000 as a result of the acquisition of the assets of Bolivar Goldfields.
Additionally, during 2001, the level of operating activities in Venezuela was significantly higher as the
Company incurred expenses associated with the commencement of mining at La Victoria, the transition to
underground mining at Tomi (Charlie Richards), and additional expenses associated with increased
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

geological activities. On a pro-rated basis, the Company also incurred greater processing expenses in
Venezuela as more tonnes were processed through the Revemin facility and the average grade fell from
approximately 4 grams per tonne to 3.4 grams per tonne. The lower recovery rate of 90% realized in 2001
as compared to the recovery rate of 95% also reflected the mixing of ores from various deposits during
2001. Both the recovery rate and the head grade are expected to be higher in 2002 than 2001. In Uruguay,
the Company incurred expenses of approximately $1 million in connection with the commissioning and
operation of a water treatment facility.
Non-cash amortization and depletion charges of $8.4 million in 2001 as compared to $6.6 million during
2000 and $4.0 million during 1999 were the result of full year charges of Bolivar Goldfields versus only
partial amortization from the previous year. Also included is partial amortization of ECM.
With the higher costs in 2001 in connection with the investments made for a higher production profile, the
Company posted a gross contribution of $7.4 million in 2001 versus $10.6 million in fiscal 2000 and $12.1
million in 1999. The Company incurred global expenses of $8.7 million in 2001 versus $7.4 million in fiscal
2000 and $8.3 million in 1999. Of this differential, $1.2 million was due to interest on long term debt as the
Company carried its non-recourse project financing for the entire year of 2001 whereas during the previous
year it had the debt associated with the acquisition of Bolivar Goldfields outstanding for only part of the
year. Aside from the increased interest expense, despite the increased pace of corporate activity, the cost
of running the Company was virtually the same in 2001 as compared to the previous years.
After reflecting other income of $1.4 million in 2001 as compared to other income of $.17 million in 2000
and $1.5 million in 1999, the Company posted a profit of $68,394 in 2001 versus $3,304,556 in 2000 and
$5,272,947 in 1999. Of the other income, interest income of approximately $480,000 was lower than the
$625,000 from fiscal year 2000 due to the reduced interest rates received for money market deposits
during 2001. Included in other income was a foreign exchange translation loss of approximately $400,000,
as compared to a foreign exchange translation loss of $562,000 and $320,000 from the previous years.
Finally, in 2001, the Company reflected approximately $1.3 million of minority interest in other income
associated with the costs of operation of the portion of ECM not owned by the Company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2001, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $14.4 million as compared to $4.4
million on December 31, 2000. The current assets of $27.9 million had a higher degree of liquidity compared
to the $21.0 million from the previous year. At year end, cash represented 51.7% of current assets versus
21% of current assets on December 31, 2000. Year-end working capital of $8.5 million showed a significant
improvement in liquidity as compared to the Company’s working capital position of $2.95 million from
December 31, 2000. Total assets increased to $198 million from $164 million the previous year. Of the
increase of $34 million in assets, approximately $28 million was attributable to the acquisition and
operation of the ECM properties.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Regarding liabilities, the only significant change was the increase in the current portion of long term debt
from approximately $500,000 to $2.3 million reflecting the commencement of the amortization of the nonrecourse project finance credit facility. As at December 31, 2001, the payment schedule was:
Year

Amount (US$million)

2002

1 .1 25

2003

3.000

2004

1.240

2005

4.400

2006

2.058

Shareholders’ equity grew from $111 million to $144 million, reflecting the Company’s corporate finance
activities as well as the issuance of equity in conjunction with the acquisition of the El Callao Mining Corp.
(“ECM”) properties.

Operating Activities
The cash provided by operating activities was $10. 5 million compared with $11.0 million in 2000 and $2.7
million in 1999. During 2001, the Company made significant improvement in reducing production and
supplies inventories. The cash flow from the operating activities was used to finance capital expenditures
and for the acquisition of a company.

Investing Activities
During the year, the Company invested $5.4 million to consummate the acquisition of a portion of the
outstanding debt owing from ECM to Bema Gold Corporation (‘Bema”) and a royalty on the El Callao Mining
project. Concurrent with this, the Company completed the take-over bid made by its wholly-owned subsidiary
618707 British Columbia Ltd., to acquire any and all of the common shares of ECM. The shares of ECM
deposited to the offer totalled 36,575,832, representing approximately 80% of the outstanding shares of
ECM. 618707 British Columbia Ltd. assigned its rights under the bid to the Company and the Company took
up and paid for the ECM shares by issuing an aggregate of 2,438,352 common shares of the Company.
With this acquisition, the Company has control of the Lo Increible Project in Venezuela. The Lo Increible
Project is a 10,000 hectare property in the heart of the El Callao mining district.
In February 1999, ECM released the results of a pre-feasibility study completed by Bema and independently
audited by Mineral Resource Development Inc. A geological resource of 24.1 million tonnes grading 3.3 g/t
gold, containing 2.6 million ounces of gold at a 1.0 g/t cut-off was outlined from the 302 holes (49,377
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metres of drilling) incorporated into the report. From this resource, the study identified a mineable open pit
reserve of 11.4 million tonnes of ore grading 3.3 g/t, containing 1.2 million ounces of gold at an average waste
to ore stripping ratio of 6.7 to 1. An additional 1.34 million tonnes at 6.8 g/t (305,000 ounces using a 5 g/t
cut-off) were identified as extensions to the two largest and closest deposits, La Victoria and La Cruz, which
may have the potential to be mined in the future on an underground basis. All six of the currently identified
deposits remain open at depth and along strike. In addition to these six zones, numerous other targets have
been identified within the surrounding land package that have yet to be drill tested.
During 2001, the Company also incurred expenses in various projects to expand the mills, commenced
mining at Santa Teresa, collared the portal for underground mining at Charlie Richards and others.

Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities generated $19.0 million in 2001, representing the proceeds from a
private placement, equity offerings, debt draw-downs, exercising of warrants and stock options.

Risk Factors
The profitability of the Company depends upon several identified factors including levels of production,
commodity prices, costs of operation, financing costs, the successful integration of acquired assets and the
risks associated with mining activities. Profitability will further vary with discretionary expenditures such
as investments in technology, exploration and mine development. The Company operates in an international
marketplace and incurs exposure to risks inherent in a multi-jurisdictional business environment including
political risk, varying tax regimes, country specific employment legislation and currency exchange
fluctuation. The Company seeks to minimize its exposure to these factors by implementing insurance and
risk management programs, monitoring debt levels and interest costs, and maintaining employment and
social policies consistent with sustaining a trained and stable workforce.

Regulatory and Environment Risks:
The Company takes care to maintain compliance with the regulations prevalent in the countries within which
it has activities. Concern for the environment has spawned several regulations with regard to mining in various
countries. The Company believes that its environmental programs, developed internally in conjunction with
local advisers, not only comply with but in some cases exceed prevailing regulations. Costs relating to ongoing
site restoration are expensed when incurred. The Company’s estimate of its ultimate reclamation liability may
vary from current estimates due to possible changes in laws and regulations and changes in costs estimated.
The Company will accrue additional liabilities for further reclamation costs as and when evidence becomes
available indicating that its reclamation liability has changed.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT DECEMBER 31 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

2001

2000

ASSETS
Current
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable

14,409,831

$

4,418,442

2,883,091

2,409,709

Production inventories

8,201,031

10,994,368

Supplies inventory and prepaid expenses

2,120,752

2,957,347

235,901

227,901

8,735

35,618

27,859,341

21,043,385

306,218

255,131

Marketable securities
Due from related parties

Security deposits
Long-term investment securities (Note 3)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 5)

2,643,338

2,643,338

166,265,454

135,444,453

1,269,652

101,453

Deferred financing fees (Note 6)
Deferred acquisition costs

—

4,598,639

$ 198,344,003

$ 164,086,399

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2001

2000

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to related parties
Deferred charges
Current portion of long-term debt
Loan payable

Reclamation provision
Long-term debt (Note 7)
Deferred charges

Minority interest

$

16,353,678
437,506

$

16,611,935
292,184

525,878

—

2,309,559

487,338

300,000

700,000

19,926,621

18,091,457

1,250,151

1,485,301

24,829,792

32,656,570

646,821

797,127

46,653,385

53,030,455

7,752,099

142,886
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS AT DECEMBER 31 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock
Authorized
Unlimited common shares, without par value
Unlimited Class “A” preference shares, par value $50
Unlimited Class “B” preference shares, par value $250
Issued
December 31, 2000 – 59,154,221 common shares
December 31, 2001 – 79,347,194 common shares

$

169,766,113

$ 130,732,129

—

1,955,644

210,138

—

Capital stock subscribed
December 31, 2000 – 1,025,000 common shares
December 31, 2001 – Nil common shares
Equity component of convertible notes
Cumulative translation adjustment
Deficit

Contingencies (Note 5)
Commitments (Note 13)
On behalf of the Board:

SIGNED

SIGNED

Marc J. Oppenheimer

Gordon Thompson

Director

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(4,675,924)

(344,513)

(21,361,808)

(21,430,202)

143,938,519

110,913,058

$ 198,344,003

$ 164,086,399
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

OPERATING REVENUE

2001

2000

1999

$ 55,593,068

$ 47,732,737

$ 35,907,539

39,847,295

30,536,525

19,829,577

8,385,722

6,624,501

4,016,181

7,360,051

10,571,711

12,061,781

504,416

107,656

102,623

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations
Amortization and depletion
EXPENSES
Amortization
Financing fees
Interest on long-term debt
Investor relations
General and administration

Income (loss) before other items

—

28,987

—

2,245,569

1,019,883

1,250,898

693,983

590,616

680,136

5,225,294

5,685,294

6,230,549

8,669,262

7,432,436

8,264,206

3,139,275

3,797,575

624,616

1,681,787

(562,191)

(320,246)

(1,309,211)

OTHER ITEMS
Interest and other income

479,637

Foreign exchange

(402,244)

Gain on securities
Minority interest

—

102,856

113,831

1,300,212

—

—

1,377,605

165,281

1,475,372

$ 3,304,556

$

5,272,947

Income for the year

$

68,394

Basic income per share

$

0.00

$

0.06

$

0.13

Diluted income per share

$

0.00

$

0.06

$

0.09

Weighted average number of common
shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

69,117,738

52,965,842

39,308,858

71,056,142

56,785,081

68,258,238

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

2001

2000

1999

68,394

$ 3,304,556

8,890,138

6,799,660

4,004,828

89,189

—

—

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income for the year

$

$

5,272,947

Adjustments to reconcile income to net cash
used in operating activities:
Amortization and depletion
Brokers fees
Deferred charges

375,572

Foreign exchange

(191,074)

—
562,191

—
(12,727)

Gain on securities

—

(102,856)

(113,831)

Gain on loan repayment

—

(110,312)

(68,638)

Interest on long-term debt

347,690

Management fees

104,550

35,000

34,560

Reclamation provision

(44,652)

403,972

409,522

(1,300,212)

—

—

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable

(187,498)

1,590,337

(1,246,031)

(Increase) decrease in production inventories

1,219,479

694,250

(4,222,365)

644,877

(1,638,314)

26,883

(281)

315,999

(874,342)

145,322

221,089

10,504,657

11,017,482

Minority interest

132,532

84,141

Changes in other operating assets and liabilities,
(net of effects from purchase of subsidiaries):

(Increase) decrease in supplies inventory
and prepaid expenses
(Increase) decrease in due from related parties

(304,258)
4,623

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities
Increase (decrease) in due to related parties
Net cash provided by operating activities

(838,354)
(311,677)
2,692,740

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash acquired)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Deferred acquisition costs
Security deposits

(5,349,761)
(13,924,793)
—
(113,107)

Purchase of long-term investment securities

—

Proceeds on sale of marketable securities

—

Purchase of marketable securities
Net cash used in investing activities

(7,761,691)
(3,610,509)
(4,598,639)
(64,663)
(2,643,338)
137,143

(8,000)

(224,002)

(19,395,661)

(18,765,699)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

—
(2,806,036)
—
(11,309)
—
—
—
(2,817,345)

C R YS TA L L E X I N T E R N AT I O N A L C O R P O R AT I O N

pg.

28 – 29

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

2001

2000

1999

9,743,922

$ 3,704,095

—

1,955,644

—

10,191,625

2,854,425

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issuance of capital stock for cash

$

Capital stock subscribed
Debt borrowings

11,607,595

Debt repayments

(988,608)

Deferred financing fee

(1,292,102)

Net cash provided by financing activities

(10,370,847)

19,070,807

$

19,000

(1,090,314)

—

—

5,480,517

1,783,111

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
and cash equivalents

(188,414)

33,279

(541,359)

Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

9,991,389

(2,234,421)

4,418,442

6,652,863

5,535,716

$ 14,409,831

$ 4,418,442

$ 6,652,863

Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows (Note 11)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1,117,147
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Issued

Number
of Shares
Balance at December 31, 1998

Capital Stock Subscribed

Amount

36,541,481 $ 97,927,696

Number
of Shares

Equity
Component of
Convertible
Deficit
Notes

Amount

– $

–

$ (30,007,705)

$

–

Cumulative
Translation
Adjustment
$ (142,562)

Total
$ 67,777,429

Shares issued for cash

19,000

19,000

–

–

–

–

–

Shares issued for management fees

81,824

71,470

–

–

–

–

–

71,470

929,666

1,079,246

–

–

–

–

–

1,079,246

Shares issued for legal fees

19,000

Shares issued for mineral property

3,033,165

3,189,412

–

–

–

–

–

3,189,412

Shares issued on conversion of notes

4,306,930

3,281,149

–

–

–

–

–

3,281,149
(500,091)

Share issuance costs on conversion of notes

(500,091)

–

–

–

–

–

383,503

325,862

–

–

–

–

–

Translation adjustment

–

–

–

–

–

–

Income for the year

–

–

–

–

5,272,947

–

45,295,569

105,393,744

–

–

(24,734,758)

–

3,181,408

3,704,095

–

–

–

–

–

29,536

69,557

–

–

–

–

–

69,557

300,000

698,820

–

–

–

–

–

698,820

Shares issued for mineral property

5,849,153

13,301,958

–

–

–

–

–

13,301,958

Shares issued on conversion of notes

4,498,555

8,417,576

–

–

–

–

–

8,417,576

(853,621)

–

–

–

–

–

1,025,000

1,955,644

–

–

–

Shares issued for consulting fees

Balance at December 31, 1999
Shares issued for cash
Shares issued for management fees
Shares issued for legal fees

-

Share issuance costs on conversion of notes

–

Shares subscribed for cash

–

–

(1,150,268)
–
(1,292,830)

325,862
(1,150,268)
5,272,947
79,366,156
3,704,095

(853,621)
1,955,644

Translation adjustment

–

–

–

–

–

–

948,317

948,317

Income for the year

–

–

–

–

3,304,556

–

–

3,304,556

59,154,221

130,732,129

1,025,000

1,955,644

(21,430,202)

–

1,800,443

2,787,589

–

–

–

–

–

65,466

104,550

–

–

–

–

–

104,550

Shares issued for legal fees

1,200,000

2,385,000

–

–

–

–

–

2,385,000

Shares issued for mineral property

5,023,224

7,747,767

–

–

–

–

–

7,747,767

Shares issued on conversion of notes

3,199,055

4,734,510

–

–

–

–

–

4,734,510

Balance at December 31, 2000
Shares issued for cash
Shares issued for management fees

(344,513)

110,913,058
2,787,589

Share issuance costs on conversion
of notes and bank loan

–

(941,171)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

6,956,333

–

–

13,214,573

–

–

89,189

–

210,138

1,025,000

1,955,644

1,025,000

Shares issued for private placement

3,111,111

6,956,333

–

Shares issued for bank loan

4,701,615

13,214,573

–

–

–

67,059

89,189

–

–

–

Equity component of convertible note

–

–

–

–

–

210,138

Translation adjustment

–

–

–

–

–

–

Income for the year

–

–

–

–

68,394

–

79,347,194

$ 169,766,113

– $

–

Shares issued for broker fees

Balance at December 31, 2001

(1,955,644)

–

Shares allotted for private placement

–

$ (21,361,808)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$ 210,138

(4,331,411)
–
$ (4,675,924)

(941,171)

(4,331,411)
68,394
$ 143,938,519
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

1

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
The Company is engaged in the production of gold and related activities including exploration, development
mining and processing. These activities are conducted primarily in Venezuela and Uruguay.

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Use of estimates
Management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

Principles of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all its subsidiaries.
All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Translation of foreign currencies
The accounts of subsidiaries, which are integrated operations, are translated using the temporal method.
Under this method, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the year end exchange rates. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities are translated using historical rates of exchange. Revenues and expenses
are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates such items are recognized in earnings.
Exchange gains and losses are included in income for the year.
The accounts of subsidiaries which are self-sustaining operations are translated using the current rate
method. Under this method, assets and liabilities are translated at the year end exchange rates. Revenues
and expenses are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates such items are recognized in
earnings. Exchange gains and losses are included in a separate component of shareholders’ equity under
cumulative translation adjustment.
Financial statements of self sustaining subsidiaries’ operating in hyper-inflationary economies are translated
using the temporal method, until these subsidiaries’ economies are no longer hyper-inflationary.
Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the local functional currency at
exchange rates prevailing at transaction dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Mineral properties
(i) Property acquisition and mine development
Property acquisition and mine development costs are capitalized on properties where proven and probable
reserves exist, or when sufficient objective evidence exists to support a conclusion that it is probable nonreserve material will be produced, thereby supporting the recognition of an asset. Amortization is calculated
using the units of production method based on estimated recoverable ounces of gold. Estimated recoverable
ounces of gold include proven and probable reserves and non-reserve material when sufficient objective
evidence exists to support a conclusion that it is probable the non-reserve material will be produced.
In the determination of whether costs should be capitalized on individual properties, and the measurement
of amortization and recoverability of the carrying amount of mining properties, the Company takes into
account known proven and probable reserves as well as certain material that does not meet all the criteria
required for classification as a proven or probable reserve. Management’s determination as to whether the
existence of non-reserve material should result in the capitalization of costs or whether the material should
be included in the amortization and recoverability calculations is based on the existence of various
circumstances, including, but not limited to: the existence and nature of known mineralization; the location
of the property (i.e. whether the presence of existing mines and ore bodies in the immediate vicinity increases
the likelihood of development of a mine on the property); the existence of proven and probable reserves on
the property; whether the ore body is an extension of an existing producing ore body on an adjacent property;
the results of recent drilling on the property; and the existence of a feasibility study or other analysis to
demonstrate that the ore is commercially recoverable. When sufficient objective evidence exists to support
a conclusion that it is probable non-reserve material will be produced, thereby supporting the recognition of
an asset or contributing to the recovery of previously capitalized costs, the Company commences the
capitalization of costs incurred and includes the material in amortization and impairment calculations.
(ii) Properties in development
Costs incurred on properties in development and major capital projects are capitalized until the assets are put
into service, at which time the capitalized costs are amortized in accordance with the policies described above.
(iii) Exploration properties
Acquired exploration properties are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition.

Property evaluations
The Company reviews and evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of all its developed mineral
properties and related buildings and equipment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Estimated future net cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, are
calculated using estimated recoverable ounces of gold (considering current proven and probable mineral
reserves and mineral resources expected to be converted into mineral reserves); estimated future commodity
price realization (considering historical and current prices, price trends and related factors); and operating
costs, future capital expenditures, project financing costs, reclamation costs and income taxes. Reduction in
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, with a corresponding charge to earnings, are recorded
to the extent that the estimated future net cash flows are less than the carrying amount.
Estimates of future net cash flows are subject to risks and uncertainties. It is reasonably possible that
changes in circumstances may occur which could affect those future net cash flows and consequently the
recoverability of the Company’s property, plant and equipment.

Deferred exploration costs
The Company defers all direct exploration costs relating to mineral properties and areas of geological
interest until the properties to which they relate are placed into production, sold or where management has
determined there to be an impairment.

Values
The amounts shown for mineral properties and deferred exploration costs represent costs incurred to date
and are not intended to reflect present or future values.

Income taxes
Effective January 1, 2000, the Company retroactively adopted the liability method of accounting for income
taxes, following new standards adopted by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”). The
adoption of the new standards resulted in no adjustments to opening retained earnings. Under the new
standards, future income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the tax
basis of assets and liabilities and those reported in the financial statements. The future tax assets or liabilities
are calculated using the tax rates for the periods in which the differences are expected to be settled. Future
tax assets are recognized to the extent that they are considered more likely than not to be realized.

Reclamation costs
The Company’s policy for recording reclamation costs is to record a liability for the estimated costs to
reclaim mined land by recording charges to production costs for each tonne of ore mined over the life of
the mine. The amount charged is based on management’s estimation of reclamation costs to be incurred.
The accrued liability is reduced as reclamation expenditures are made. Certain reclamation work is
performed concurrently with mining and these expenditures are charged to operations at that time.
Costs relating to ongoing site restoration are expensed when incurred. The Company’s estimate of its ultimate
reclamation liability may vary from current estimates due to possible changes in laws and regulations and
changes in costs estimated. The Company will accrue additional liabilities for further reclamation costs as and
when evidence becomes available indicating that its reclamation liability has changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from mining operations is recognized when gold is shipped to the refineries and collection of the
sale is reasonably assured.

Production inventories
Production inventories of gold in process are stated at the lower of average production cost and net
realizable value. It is possible that estimates of recoverable ore, grade and gold prices could change causing
the Company to write-down production inventories.

Supplies inventory
Supplies inventory is valued at the lower of average and replacement costs.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization of plant and
equipment used directly in the mining and production of gold is included in operating costs. Amortization
of plant and equipment used directly on exploration projects is included in deferred exploration costs and
is charged against operations when the related property commences production. Amortization is being
provided for using the straight-line method over periods ranging from 5 to 20 years.

Marketable securities
Marketable securities are carried at the lower of cost and market value.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Basic income per share
Basic income per share is calculated using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year.
In accordance with the revised recommendations of the CICA, the Company changed from the imputed
earnings approach to the treasury stock method, to compute the dilutive effect of options, warrants and
similar instruments on diluted income per share. Under this method, the dilutive effect on earnings per
share is recognized on the use of the proceeds that could be obtained upon exercise of options and
warrants. It assumes that the proceeds would be used to purchase common shares at the average market
price during the period. The new standard has been applied on a retroactive basis and has no material
impact on the amounts presented.

Long-term investment securities
Long-term investment securities are stated at cost, unless there has been an other than temporary decline
in value at which time the securities are written down and the unrealized loss is recognized in determination
of net income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Commodity instruments
The Company uses derivative financial instruments including fixed forward contracts to manage its exposure to
fluctuations in the market price of gold. The instruments are intended to reduce or eliminate the risk of falling
prices on the Company’s future gold production. Gains and losses on fixed forward contracts are recognized in
gold revenues when the related designated production is delivered.
The Company enters into commodity contracts in the normal course of its business to establish future sales prices
and manage the future cash flow risks associated with price volatility of the commodities produced at its
operating mines. Commodity contracts may be designated as hedges of financial risk exposures of anticipated
transactions if, both at the inception of the hedge and throughout the hedge period, the changes in fair value of
the contract substantially offset the effect of commodity price changes on the anticipated transactions and if it
is probable that the transactions will occur. The Company regularly monitors its commodity exposures and
ensures that contracted amounts do not exceed the amounts of underlying exposures.
On October 24, 2000, the CICA Emerging Issues Committee issued EIC 113, “Accounting By Commodity
Producers For Written Call Options”, whereby written call options entered into on or after that date are
recognized on the balance sheet as a liability measured at fair value with subsequent changes in the fair value
of the liability recognized in earnings in the period of the change.

Stock-based compensation plan
The Company has a stock-based compensation plan. No compensation expense is recognized for this plan when
stock options are issued to employees. Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock options is
credited to capital stock.

Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the current year’s presentation.

3

SECURITIES
The quoted market value of marketable securities at December 31, 2001, is $269,718 (2000 - $227,901).
The Company’s investment in long-term investment securities consists of shares in a publicly listed company.
The quoted market value of long-term investment securities at December 31, 2001, is $610,000 (2000 - $1,304,000).
These shares have been pledged against the loan payable, which was repaid in January 2002.

4

ACQUISITION
Effective July 27, 2000, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding share capital of Bolivar Goldfields A.V.V.
The Company, through its subsidiaries, is involved in mining activities and the exploration and development of
mineral properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

The acquisition has been accounted for by using the purchase method, and can be summarized as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable and other assets

266,520
775,504

Production and supplies inventories

1,139,000

Property, plant and equipment

36,046,792

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(8,863,887)

Long-term debt

(18,847,225)

Minority interest

Consideration paid

(142,862)

$

10,373,842

$

7,745,725

Consideration paid consists of:
Cash paid
Common shares of the Company

2,345,631

Acquisition costs

282,486
$

10,373,842

Effective February 27, 2001, the Company acquired approximately 80% of the outstanding share capital of
El Callao Mining Corp (“ECM”) and, also from Bema Gold Corporation (“Bema”), assets related to ECM. The
company, through its subsidiaries, is involved in mining activities and the exploration and development of
mineral properties.
The acquisition has been accounted for by using the purchase method, and can be summarized as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable and other assets

15,061
491,338

Note receivable

2,240,780

Property, plant and equipment

21,924,939

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(648,712)

Minority Interest
Consideration paid

(8,909,425)
$

15,113,981

$

9,782,009

Consideration paid consists of:
Cash paid
Common shares of the Company

5,150,520

Acquisition costs

181,452
$

15,113,981
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

5

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2001
Plant and equipment

$

61,044,046

2000
$

61,614,361

Mineral properties

112,781,913

81,320,110

Deferred exploration costs

17,036,134

8,763,758

190,862,093

151,698,229

Less: Accumulated amortization and depletion

(24,596,639)
$ 166,265,454

Mineral properties:

(16,253,776)
$ 135,444,453

2001

Albino 1 Concession

$

17,710,939

Bolivar Goldfields properties

2000
$

17,710,939

20,959,392

20,959,392

Cristinas 4 and 6 Concessions

42,641,589

37,990,369

El Callao properties

26,795,322

-

Knob Hill property

518,283

518,283

Mineiro Concession

724,548

724,548

3,431,837

3,416,576

3

3

112,781,913

81,320,110

Santa Elena, San Miguel and Carabobo Concessions
Other

Less: Accumulated depletion

(6,217,282)
$ 106,564,631

Deferred
exploration
costs:
Contracting
Equipment rental
and expenses

Albino

Santa
Elena
Carabobo

$ 482,051 $ 148,310 $

Mineiro
– $

San
Gregorio

Bolivar
Goldfields

– $ 3,971,624

El Callao
$

853,373

(3,783,529)
$

77,536,581

2001

2000

$ 5,455,358 $

606,170

712,073

74,112

–

453,605

211,820

45,513

1,497,123

787,653

444,782

50,341

–

–

–

–

495,123

495,123

2,294,197

195,225

413,336

–

582,505

102,405

3,587,668

2,902,758

433,257

61,245

140,479

128,653

–

–

763,634

650,599

Samples and
geochemistry

33,613

48,047

60,175

113,034

52,955

11,378

319,202

141,835

Travel

41,640

85,246

102,420

–

–

–

229,306

229,306

Wages

792,309

102,972

–

1,218,786

476,595

125,161

2,715,823

1,203,483

Drilling

1,572,976

–

173,853

226,068

–

–

1,972,897

1,746,831

6,806,898

765,498

890,263

2,140,146

5,295,499

1,137,830

17,036,134

8,763,758

–

–

Consulting fees
Geology and
engineering
Field expenses

Less: Accumulated
depletion

(644,232)

(411,772)

(238,610)

(55,436)

(1,350,050)

(745,883)

$ 6,162,666 $ 765,498 $ 890,263 $ 1,728,374 $ 5,056,889 $ 1,082,394 $ 15,686,084 $ 8,017,875
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2001 — (EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Albino 1 Concession
By agreement with Albino Bonucci, dated December 23, 1992, the Company, through its subsidiaries,
acquired a 100% interest in the Albino 1 concession in Bolivar State, Venezuela. The consideration of $13.8
million to acquire the interest in the concession was fully paid by December 31, 1997. A 1% Net Smelter Return
Royalty is payable to the Ministry of Energy and Mines (“MEM”) from the proceeds of gold production.

Bolivar Goldfields Properties
During 2000, the Company acquired all of the outstanding share capital of Bolivar Goldfields A.V.V. (Note 4).
This acquisition includes the Tomi concession, Revemin mill and exploration lands in Venezuela. The
exploration lands include the Dividival I and II and the Belen II concessions in the El Callao greenstone belt
in Venezuela.

Cristinas 4 and 6 Concessions
In March 1997, the Company acquired rights to the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions located in Kilometre 88,
Venezuela. The Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions have been under investigation and exploration for several
years by Placer Dome Inc. under a joint venture agreement with Corporacion Venezolana de Guayana
(“CVG”). The Cristinas 4 concession is adjacent to the Company’s Albino 1 concession. The Company holds
its interest in Cristinas 4 and 6 through Inversora Mael, C.A. (“Mael”), a Venezuelan company (see Note 13).
The Supreme Court of Venezuela issued rulings in 1991, 1996 and 1997 confirming the validity of the
transfer of the concessions to Mael. Following the 1997 ruling, Mael commenced a further action in the
Supreme Court of Venezuela seeking a ruling requiring the MEM to recognize fully Mael’s title ownership of
the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions. On June 11, 1998, the Venezuelan Supreme Court ruled that Mael does
not have status to assert ownership rights over Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions and refused to proceed with
this action. In the opinion of counsel, prior contradictory decisions of the Venezuelan Supreme Court were
not overruled by the June 11, 1998, decision.
In August 1999, the Company commenced two legal proceedings in Venezuela in order to enforce its rights
in relation to the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions. The first proceeding seeks to nullify the joint venture
agreement previously entered into between CVG and Minera de Las Cristinas S.A. (“MINCA”), a Venezuelan
joint venture in which Placer Dome has been a participant. In essence, this action challenges the original
legal basis on which CVG purported to confer contractual rights to exploit the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions
commercially. The second proceeding seeks to nullify the effect of the settlement agreement entered into
in 1991 in respect of a lawsuit between Mael, the Republic of Venezuela, CVG and Ramon Torres.
In September 1999, Venezuela published a new mining law providing that mining privileges may only be
conferred by concession. MINCA has since applied to convert its contractual rights, in respect of Cristinas 4
and 6, into a concession. It is uncertain whether this application will be granted. Such application has not been
published in the Official Gazette. Should it be published, the Company will be entitled to file an opposition.
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In May 2000, the Supreme Court of Venezuela issued a decision in favour of an appeal filed by Mael against
a previous decision issued by the Admission Chamber of the Supreme Court of Venezuela. The Supreme
Court’s Admission Chamber decision refused to admit the August 1999 action seeking to nullify the 1991
settlement agreement described above. Like the Venezuela Supreme Court rulings in 1991, 1996, and 1997,
which confirmed Mael’s legal standing regarding the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions, the Supreme Court’s
decision recognizes Mael’s legal standing in this matter. In its decision, the Supreme Court of Venezuela
reviewed each of the arguments presented by MINCA and CVG, and ruled against each argument. By
reviewing and ruling individually against each of the MINCA and CVG arguments, those parties are barred
from raising and cannot again present these arguments before the Supreme Court in this lawsuit. The
decision, which cannot be appealed, was approved by the majority of the justices. The only dissenting
opinion was in the form of a single sentence dealing with procedural aspects of the decision, and contained
nothing opposing the case filed by Mael.
In June 2000, the Admission Court of the Political-Administrative Chamber of the Supreme Court of Justice
of Venezuela issued a decision which formally admits the legal claims made by Mael. As a result of the May
and June decisions, Mael’s case respecting the ownership of the Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions can advance
to a full and final hearing on the merits before the Political-Administrative Chamber of the Supreme Court
of Justice of Venezuela.
In November 2001, the Venezuelan government cancelled the mining rights held by MINCA and took
possession of the contested properties.
Pending resolution of these continuing legal proceedings and determinations to be made under the new
mining law, the Company has determined not to write off its investment. The costs relating to acquiring the
Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions have been capitalized as part of the cost of the acquisition of the mineral
property. The total cost incurred to December 31, 2001, was $42,641,589. In the event that the Company is
unsuccessful in obtaining possession of the property, these costs, and any subsequent costs incurred, will
be expensed to operations in that period.

El Callao Properties
By an agreement dated September 12, 2000, and concurrently with the completion of the January 25, 2001
take-over bid, the Company acquired approximately 80% of the outstanding shares of ECM and, from Bema,
assets related to ECM. As a result of the acquisition, the Company now controls the Lo Increible project in
Venezuela.

Mineiro Concession
By an agreement dated March 11, 1997, the Company, through its interest in Diamond Company Ltda,
acquired a 65% interest on the Mineiro concession, consisting of 9,600 hectares in Amapa State, Brazil.
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, the Company paid $366,987 and issued 100,000 common shares
of the Company at a deemed value of $355,000.
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San Gregorio Mining Concession
By an agreement dated October 2, 1998, the Company, through one of its subsidiaries, acquired a 100%
interest in the San Gregorio mining concession in Uruguay. The Uruguayan government mining agency has
granted the Company exploitation rights over the concession for 15 years subject to a net profit royalty.

Santa Elena, San Miguel and Carabobo Concessions
The Company entered into a joint venture agreement with Associacion Cooperative Minera del Sur R.L.
(“ACOMISUR”), a mining cooperative, regarding the Santa Elena, San Miguel and Carabobo properties, all
located in Bolivar State, Venezuela. Under this agreement, the Company’s Venezuelan subsidiary will own
80% of the joint venture and ACOMISUR will own 20%, with the Company’s subsidiary being the operator.
The proven and probable reserves of the properties have not yet been determined.

Title to mineral properties
Title to mineral properties involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining the validity
of certain claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyancing
history characteristic of many mining properties. The Company has investigated title to all of its mineral
properties and, to the best of its knowledge, title to all of its properties are in good standing, subject to the
comments contained in this note. The properties in which the Company has committed to earn an interest
are located in Uruguay, Venezuela and Brazil and the Company is therefore relying on title opinion by legal
counsel who are basing such opinions on the laws of Uruguay, Venezuela and Brazil.

6

DEFERRED FINANCING FEES
Deferred financing fees of $1,269,652, net of accumulated amortization of $396,587, (2000 - $101,453, net
of accumulated amortization of $Nil) at December 31, 2001, relate to costs incurred in the issuance of the
convertible notes financing and for a non-recourse credit facility.

7

LONG-TERM DEBT
2001
Gold loan

$

—

2000
$

18,178,673

Bank loan

17,820,718

13,682,938

Convertible notes

9,318,633

1,282,297

27,139,351

33,143,908

Less: Current portion of the long-term debt

(2,309,559)
$ 24,829,792

(487,338)
$ 32,656,570
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Gold loan
During 1998, the Company, through a subsidiary, had entered into a non-recourse five-year bank credit
facility of $24,532,800 or equivalent ounces of gold. The facility bears interest at the London Inter-Bank
Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) for United States dollar-denominated loans or the gold base rate for gold ouncedenominated loans plus an applicable margin, negotiated between both parties. The Company has the
ability to repay the loan in either United States dollars, gold, or common shares of the Company. During the
current period, the loan was converted into a dollar denominated bank loan.
The loan agreement contained certain financial and other covenants that must be maintained during the
term of the loan. Assets of certain of the subsidiary companies had been pledged as collateral.

Bank loans
During 1998, Minera San Gregorio S.A. entered into a bank loan facility of $24,532,800. The facility bears
interest at the LIBOR plus an applicable margin, negotiated between both parties. Certain equipment is
secured against the loan.
During 2000, Mineras Bonanza C.A. entered into a bank loan facility of $12,779,750. The facility bears
interest at the LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The bank loan is secured by first mortgages over all the
land, buildings and chattel of Mineras Bonanza, C.A. and Revemin II, C.A.
During 2001, the credit facilities were combined into a new bank loan facility with the same interest rates
and operating assets pledged as securities. As at December 31, 2001, principal payments due to retire the
outstanding indebtedness are as follows:

Year

2002

Amount (US$)
$

1,125,000

2003

3,000,000

2004

1,240,000

2005
2006

4,400,000
2,058,000

Convertible notes
The convertible notes are unsecured and bear interest in the range of 7% - 10% per annum. The notes are
convertible by the holder at any time into common shares at a conversion price determined by recent
average market price. The notes can be redeemed by the Company in cash or by delivery of common shares.
Upon issuance, the liability component of the notes was valued at $12,443,729, representing the present
value of the minimum future cash payments to be made by the Company. The remaining balance of $210,138
was classified in shareholders’ equity as “equity component of convertible notes”. Over the term of the debt
obligation an amount equal to the equity component will be accreted to the face value of the notes by the
recording of additional interest expense.
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CAPITAL STOCK
At December 31, 2001, warrants were outstanding enabling the holders to acquire the following number of
common shares:

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Contractual
Life (Years)

US$1.01 to US$2.00

6,483,737

1.30

US$2.19 to US$2.84

3,685,657

1.05

Range of
Exercise Price

The Company has a stock option plan enabling it to grant options to executive officers and directors,
employees and consultants. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option equals the closing price of the
Company’s stock on the trading day immediately preceding the date of the grant.
The following is a summary of the status of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2001:
Outstanding Options

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

2,018,500

4.71

$0.98

2,018,500

$0.98

$1.41 to $1.75

2,196,000

5.55

$1.52

2,196,000

$1.52

$2.00 to $2.65

3,492,500

7.53

$2.23

3,492,500

$2.23

Range of
Exercise Prices

$0.85 to $1.00

9

Exercisable Options

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with related parties:
a) Paid or accrued consulting and management fees of $650,835 (2000 - $687,530; 1999 - $648,438) to
directors of the Company and companies related to directors and an officer of the Company.
b) Paid or accrued legal fees of $437,165 (2000 - $485,673; 1999 - $507,810) to a company related to a
director of the Company.
The amounts charged to the Company for the services provided have been determined by negotiation
among the parties, and in certain cases, are covered by signed agreements. These transactions were in the
normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange value which represented the amount of
consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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INCOME TAXES
Income tax expenses varies from the amount that would be computed by applying the combined federal and
provincial income tax rate of 44.5% (2000 - 45.6%; 1999 – 45.6%) to income before taxes as follows:
2001

2000

1999

Income before income taxes

$

68,394

$

3,304,556

$

Expected income taxes

$

30,435

$

1,506,878

$ 2,404,464

Loss carry forwards

—

5,272,947

(1,309,500)

—

Resource allowance not subject to taxes

(704,517)

(529,976)

(1,831,379)

Other

674,082

332,598

(573,085)

Actual income taxes

$

—

$

—

$

—

The significant components of the Company’s future tax assets are as follows:
2001

2000

$ 18,931,829

$ 21,303,338

Cumulative exploration and development expenses

2,572,878

2,636,477

Property, plant and equipment

1,856,730

169,255

403,015

257,259

Net operating loss carry forwards

Other

Less: valuation allowance
Net future tax assets

$

23,764,452

24,366,329

(23,764,452)

(24,366,329)

—

$

—

The Company has non-capital losses of approximately $54 million which may be carried forward and applied
against taxable income in future years. These losses expire between 2002 and 2008.

11

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO CASH FLOWS
2001
Cash paid during the year for interest

2000

1999

$

1,897,879

$

887,351

$

946,656

$

—

$

—

$

—

Cash paid during the year for
income taxes
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Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended December 31, 2001, included:
i)

The Company issued 65,466 common shares, with a value of $104,550, for management fees.

ii)

The Company issued 1,200,000 common shares, with a value of $2,385,000, for legal fees.

iii)

The Company issued 3,987,535 common shares, with a value of $5,150,520, to acquire El Callao Mining Corp.

iv)

The Company issued 1,035,689 common shares, with a value of $2,597,247, for property payment.

v)

The Company issued 3,199,055 common shares upon conversion of convertible notes and accrued
interest in the amount of $4,734,510.

vi)

The Company applied $941,171 of deferred financing fees against share capital upon conversion of loan
and notes to common stock.

vii) The Company issued 1,025,000 common shares with a value of $1,955,644, for private placement.
viii) The Company issued 4,701,615 common shares, with a value of $13,214,573, for loan payments.
ix)

The Company issued 67,059 common shares, with a value of $89,189, for broker fees.

Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended December 31, 2000, included:
i)

The Company issued 29,536 common shares, with a value of $69,557, for management fees.

ii)

The Company issued 300,000 common shares, with a value of $698,820, for legal fees.

iii)

The Company issued 4,580,404 common shares, with a value of $10,956,327, for the Cristinas 4 and
6 property payment.

iv)

The Company issued 1,268,749 common shares, with a value of $2,345,631, to acquire Bolivar
Goldfields A.V.V. (Note 4).

v)

The Company issued 4,498,555 common shares upon conversion of convertible notes and accrued
interest in the amount of $8,417,576.

vi)

The Company applied $853,621 of the deferred financing fees against share capital upon conversion
of notes to common stock.

Significant non-cash transactions for the year ended December 31, 1999, included:
i)

The Company issued 81,824 common shares, with a value of $71,470, for management fees.

ii)

The Company issued 929,666 common shares, with a value of $1,079,246, for legal fees.

iii)

The Company issued 3,033,165 common shares, with a value of $3,189,412, for the Cristinas 4 and 6
property payment.

iv)

The Company issued 4,306,930 common shares upon conversion of convertible notes and accrued
interest in the amount of $3,281,149.

v)

The Company applied $500,091 of the deferred financing fees against share capital upon conversion
of notes to common stock.

vi)

The Company issued 383,503 common shares, with a value of $325,862, for consulting fees.
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SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company, after reviewing its reporting system, has determined that it operates in one reporting
segment, that being gold mining and related activities. Accordingly, the Company’s operating areas are
considered segments for financial reporting purposes by geographical segments and are as follows:
2001

2000

1999

Operating revenue:
Uruguay

$

Venezuela

38,000,784

$

17,592,284

38,392,914

$

9,339,823

35,907,539
—

$

55,593,068

$

47,732,737

$

35,907,539

$

27,467,820

$

24,419,555

$

19,829,577

Operating costs:
Uruguay
Venezuela

12,379,475
$

6,116,970

39,847,295

$

4,740,322

$

—

30,536,525

$

19,829,577

4,094,109

$

4,016,181

Amortization and depletion:
Uruguay

$

Venezuela

3,645,400

2,530,392

—

$

8,385,722

$

6,624,501

$

4,016,181

$

5,792,642

$

9,879,250

$

12,061,781

Operating Income:
Uruguay
Venezuela

1,567,409
$

692,461

7,360,051

$

1,547,163

$

—

10,571,711

$

1,617,099

$

12,061,781

Assets by geographic area:
Brazil
Canada

$

1,617,876

14,781,293

5,027,547

2,023,762

Uruguay

37,549,429

46,474,263

51,995,412

Venezuela

144,466,118

110,967,490

57,237,135

$ 198,344,003

$ 164,086,399

$

112,874,185
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COMMITMENTS
Agreement
The Company entered into an agreement (“Call Agreement”) whereby it acquired an exclusive call right to
acquire all of the common shares of Ventures (Barbados) Ltd. (“Ventures”). Ventures indirectly owns, as its
sole material asset, the outstanding shares of Mael. The directors of Ventures have granted the Company
an exclusive right to acquire all of the shares of Ventures at their cost at any time. The accounting for this
transaction when it does take place will be at the cost to the Company which is equal to the director’s cost,
resulting in no capital distribution by the Company to the directors.
The director’s cost of acquiring the shares of Mael was US$30 million, of which US$6.5 million was paid by
the Company as of December 31, 1998. Effective April 30, 1999, Ventures and Red Glove Corp. A.V.V. agreed
to reduce the remaining portion of the purchase price from US$23.5 million to US$10 million plus 5 million
warrants to purchase common shares of the Company at a price of US$2 per share. During 2000, the US$10
million was fully paid through the issuance of common shares of the Company and US$250,000 in cash.
The Call Right is irrevocable and unconditional, unless prior to its exercise a person together with any
parties acting jointly or in concert with it acquires 20% or more of the outstanding voting shares of the
Company without the approval of the Board of Directors. In such event, the call right will be terminated and
Ventures and its shareholders will be required to dispose of the investment in Mael in a commercially
reasonable manner with a view to maximizing the proceeds of such disposition. The net proceeds of
disposition, whether represented by cash or securities, would be distributed after payment of liabilities to
those persons who were shareholders of the Company immediately prior to the 20% ownership threshold
being surpassed. Under the Call Agreement, the Company has the right to vote the shares of Ventures (see
Note 5, Cristinas 4 and 6 concessions).

Precious metal contracts
The Company’s hedging policy provides for the use of fixed forward contracts to hedge the Company’s
expected annual gold production. At December 31, 2001, the Company had fixed forward contracts
outstanding as follows:
Year
Ounces
Average Price (US$ per oz.)

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

48,852

76,848

82,608

41,130

39,996

300

300

300

305

310

Written call options are contracts in which the writer, for a fee (premium), sells the purchaser the right, but not
the obligation, to buy on a specific future date a stipulated quantity of gold at a stated price. The Company had
written long-term gold call options in respect of 50,000 ounces at December 31, 2001. The options, which have
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an average strike price of US$305 per ounce, expire on various dates over the period from 2003 to 2004. In
addition, short term written call options in respect of 60,250 ounces of gold were outstanding at December
31, 2001, with an average strike price of US$296 and expiring in 2002. In the event that they are exercised at
their expiry dates, the Company has the ability to deliver production to meet the commitment.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments
Fair values of financial instruments and over-the-counter (“OTC”) contracts are determined based on
estimates using net present value, Black-Scholes and other valuation techniques. The estimates are
significantly affected by the assumptions used including current market and contractual prices of the
underlying instruments, as well as time value, and by yield curve and volatility factors underlying the positions.
The carrying amounts for cash, accounts receivable, marketable securities, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities and long-term debt on the balance sheet approximate fair value.
At December 31, 2001, based on the spot price of US$277 per ounce of gold, the mark-to-market values of
the Company’s precious metals sales program was approximately $1,172,699.

Credit and market risk
The Company enters into financial agreements (financial instruments) with major international banks and
other international financial institutions in order to hedge underlying revenue exposures arising from
commodity prices and interest rates. Financial instruments, which subject the Company to market risk and
concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash, securities and fixed forward contracts and option
contracts for metals. The Company places its cash and short-term investments in high quality securities
issued by government agencies, financial institutions and major corporations and limits the amount of
credit exposure by diversifying its holdings.
The Company only uses OTC instruments in its metal program. These instruments are relatively
straightforward contracts and involve little complexity. The Corporation is exposed to credit risk in the
event of non-performance by counterparties in connection with its metal forward and option contracts. The
Company does not obtain any security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk but mitigates
this risk by dealing only with a diverse group of financially sound counterparties and, accordingly, does not
anticipate loss for non-performance. The Company continually monitors the market risk of its activities.

Other
One of the Company’s subsidiaries has outstanding a US$1.5 million letter of credit in connection with its
environmental remediation plans.
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NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE
The following table outlines the calculation of basic and diluted net income per common share:
2001

2000

1999

$68,394

$3,304,556

$5,272,947

—

—

1,105,604

$68,394

$3,304,556

$6,378,551

–weighted average number of outstanding shares

69,117,738

52,965,842

39,308,858

Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants

1,938,404

3,819,239

873,386

Effect of dilutive convertible notes

—

—

1,615,021

Effect of dilutive gold loan

—

—

26,460,973

71,056,142

56,785,081

68,258,238

Numerator for basic net income per common share:
Net income attributable to common shareholders
Long-term interest expense
Numerator for diluted net income per common share
Denominator for basic net income per common share

Denominator for dilutive net income per common share
–adjusted weighted average number of
outstanding shares
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UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”). Except as set out below, these financial statements also comply,
in all material respects, with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“United States GAAP”).

(1) Stock Based Compensation
The United States Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) has issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation”, which became
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1995. This statement requires the Company to
establish a fair market value based method of accounting for stock based compensation plans. In 1996, for
United States reporting purposes, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 in accounting for its stock option
plan. Canadian GAAP does not require the reporting of any stock based compensation expense in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of employee stock
options at the issuance date. In determining the fair value of these employee stock options, the following
assumptions were used:
2001
Risk free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividends

2000

1999

3.12%

6.25%

5.07%

2 years

2 years

2 years

83%

104%

165%

—

—

—

The application of SFAS No. 123 resulted in the reporting of compensation expenses in the amount of
$2,129,539, $2,447,767 and $734,015 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Following is a summary of the stock based compensation plan during 2001, 2000 and 1999:

2001

2000

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

1999

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number
of Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding and exercisable,
6,315,292

$ 1.52

6,585,000

$ 1.15

6,358,000

$1.30

Granted

beginning of year

1,815,000

2.24

2,027,500

2.13

1,018,500

1.13

Exercised

(340,000)

Cancelled

(83,292)

1.38 (2,222,208)
1.40

(75,000)

1.03

(19,000)

1.00

-

(772,500)

2.33

Outstanding and exercisable,
end of the year

7,707,000

$ 1.70

6,315,292

$ 1.52

6,585,000

$1.15

Weighted average fair
value of options granted
during the year

$ 1.17

$ 1.21

$ 0.72

(2) Mineral Properties and Deferred Exploration Costs
Under Canadian GAAP, mineral properties, including prospecting and acquisition costs, are carried at cost
and written down if the properties are abandoned, sold or if management decides not to pursue the
properties. Under United States GAAP, exploration and prospecting costs are charged to expense as
incurred, as are development costs for projects not yet determined by management to be commercially
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feasible. Expenditures for mine development are capitalized when the properties are determined to have
economically recoverable proven reserves but are not yet producing at a commercial level. Prior to
commencing commercial production, revenue relating to development ore, net of mining costs associated
with its production, is offset against mine development costs. Mine development costs incurred to access
reserves on producing mines are also capitalized. Capitalization of all exploration, development, and
acquisition costs, commences once the Company identifies proven and probable reserves that relate to
specific properties.
Mining projects and properties are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. If estimated future cash flows
expected to result from the use of the mining project or property and its eventual disposition are less than
the carrying amount of the mining project or property, an impairment is recognized based upon the
estimated fair value of the mining project or property. Fair value generally is based on the present value of
estimated future net cash flows for each mining project or property, calculated using estimates of proven
and probable mineable reserves, future prices, operating costs, capital requirements and reclamation costs.

(3) Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets
to be Disposed of
For United States reporting purposes, the Company has adopted SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of”. In the event that facts and
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable and an estimate of
future undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss will be
recognized. Management’s estimates of gold prices, recoverable proven and probable reserves, operating
capital, and reclamation costs are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which may affect the
recoverability of the Company’s investment in property, plant, and equipment. Although management has
made its best estimate of these factors based on current conditions, it is possible that changes could occur
which could adversely affect management’s estimate of the net cash flow expected to be generated from
its operations.
The Santa Elena, San Miguel and Carabobo, Cristinas 4 and 6 and Knob Hill properties, which have a total
capitalized cost of $46,591,712 for Canadian reporting purposes, have been written down for United States
reporting purposes, as they have no determinable proven or probable reserves. As a result of a study of
gold reserves of its mineral properties, the Company has recorded a $4,666,481 (2000 - $12,643,590;
1999 - $5,497,813) write-down of its investment in mineral properties for United States reporting purposes.
Since the fair value of the Company’s other properties exceed their capitalized cost, there has been no
adjustment to the cost of these properties. The estimated fair value of the properties would vary if future
conditions do not occur in accordance with assumptions.

(4) Marketable Securities
For Canadian GAAP purposes short term marketable securities are carried at the lower of aggregate cost
or current market value, with any unrealized loss included in the consolidated statements of operations.
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In May 1993, the FASB issued SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities”, which became effective for years beginning after December 31, 1993. The statement requires
that certain investments be classified into available-for-sale or trading securities stated at fair market
values. Any unrealized holding gains or losses are to be reported as a separate component of shareholders’
equity until realized for available-for-sale securities, and included in earnings for trading securities. Under
SFAS No. 115, the Company’s investment in marketable securities in the amount of $235,901 would be
classified as trading securities and its investment in long-term investment securities in the amount of
$2,643,338 would be classified as available-for-sale securities.

(5) Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities”, as amended by SFAS No. 138, “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and
Certain Hedging Activities”.
At December 31, 2001, the Company’s hedging contracts used to reduce exposure to precious metal prices,
consisted of forward sales contracts. The Company settles these contracts through the physical delivery of
production from its operations at the contract settlement dates. Therefore, the forward sales contracts
meet the criteria for the normal purchases and sales exemption of SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS
No. 138. Accordingly, recognition of the precious metals forward sales contract will continue to be deferred
until settlement.

(6) Comprehensive Income
In June 1997, the FASB issued SFAS No. 130 “Reporting Comprehensive Income”. SFAS No. 130 establishes
standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components (revenue, expenses,
gains and losses). The purpose of reporting comprehensive income is to present a measure of all changes
in shareholders’ equity that result from recognized transactions and other economic events of the year,
other than transactions with owners in their capacity as owners.

(7) Convertible Notes
Under Canadian GAAP, the Company presents the separate equity and liability components of the
convertible notes. This accounting policy is not permitted under United States GAAP. Accordingly,
additional interest expenses determined under Canadian GAAP have been deducted to arrive at net loss and
all proceeds allocated to the equity component of convertible notes would be classified as a non-current
liability rather than equity under United States GAAP.

(8) Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In March 2000, the Accounting Standards Board of the CICA issued Accounting Guideline No. 11 entitled
Enterprises in the Development Stage – (“AcG 11”). The guideline addresses three distinct issues:
(i) capitalization of cost/expenditures, (ii) impairment, and (iii) disclosure. Prior to its issuance, development
stage entities were exempt from certain aspects of Canadian GAAP. AcG 11 will require that all companies
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account for a transaction based on the underlying characteristics of the transaction rather than the
maturity of the enterprise. In addition, AcG 11 will require specific disclosure of information by development
stage companies. The guideline is effective no later than fiscal periods beginning on or after April 1, 2000,
which is the Company’s 2001 fiscal year. The Company is aware that there are two alternative views of how
AcG 11 affects mining companies with respect to the deferral of exploration costs. CICA Handbook Section
3061 “Property, Plant and Equipment” in paragraph 21 states “For mining property, the cost of the asset
includes exploration costs if the enterprise considers that such costs have the characteristics of property,
plant and equipment.” The Company considers that exploration costs meeting the criteria set out in note 2
to have the characteristics of property, plant and equipment and accordingly defers such costs. Under the
view adopted by the Company, deferred exploration costs would not automatically be subject to regular
assessments of recoverability, unless conditions, such as those discussed in AcG 11, exist.
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, which supersedes Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 16, “Business Combinations”, and SFAS No. 38, “Accounting for
Preacquisition Contingencies of Purchased Enterprises”. Concurrently, the Accounting Standards Board
(“ASB”) in Canada issued CICA Handbook Section 1581, “Business Combinations”, which is consistent with
SFAS No. 141. This statement will change the accounting for business combinations and goodwill. SFAS
No. 141 and CICA Handbook Section 1581 require that the purchase method of accounting be used for all
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. Use of the pooling-of-interests method is no longer
permitted. This statement also establishes criteria for separate recognition of intangible assets acquired in
a purchase business combination. This statement also applies to all business combinations accounted for
using the purchase method for which the date of acquisition is July 1, 2001, or later.
In June 2001, the FASB issued Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets”, which supersedes
APB Opinion No. 17, “Intangible Assets”. Concurrently, the ASB in Canada issued CICA Handbook Section
3062, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, which is consistent with SFAS No. 142. This statement requires
that goodwill no longer be amortized to earnings, but instead be reviewed for impairment. This statement is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, and is required to be applied at the beginning of
an entity’s fiscal year and to be applied to all goodwill and other intangible assets recognized in its financial
statements at that date. Impairment losses for goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets that arise due
to the initial application of this statement (resulting from a transitional impairment test) are to be reported
as resulting from a change in accounting principle. Under an exception to the date at which this statement
becomes effective, goodwill and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001, will be subject immediately
to the non-amortization and amortization provisions of this statement.
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS 143”),
which addresses financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. The Company does not anticipate that
the adoption of this statement will have a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.
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In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment on Disposal of Long-lived
Assets” (SFAS 144), which supersedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-lived Assets
and for Long-lived Assets to be Disposed of”. SFAS No. 144 applies to all long-lived assets (including
discontinued operations) and consequently amends APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting Results of Operations
– Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business”. SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived
assets that are to be disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of book value or fair value less cost to
sell. That requirement eliminates APB Opinion No. 30’s requirement that discontinued operations be
measured at net realizable value or that entities include under “discontinued operations” in the financial
statements amounts for operating losses that have not yet occurred. Additionally, SFAS No. 144 expands
the scope of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that (1) can be
distinguished from the rest of the entity and (2) will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity
in a disposal transaction. SFAS No. 144 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2001, and, generally, its provisions are to be applied prospectively. The Company has
not yet determined the impact of this statement on its consolidated financial statement.
The impact of the above differences between Canadian GAAP and United States GAAP on the consolidated
balance sheet items as reported, is as follows:
2001

Current assets

$

Security deposits

2000

Balance as
Reporting

Balance as per
United States
Reporting
Adjustments Requirements

27,859,341

$

306,218

Balance as
Reporting

33,817

$ 27,893,158

$ 21,043,385

–

306,218

255,131

Adjustments

$

Balance as per
United States
Reporting
Requirements

–

$ 21,043,385

–

255,131

Long-term investment
securities

2,643,338

(2,033,338)

610,000

2,643,338

(1,339,338)

1,304,000

166,265,454

(765,498)

(765,498)

134,678,955

Property, plant and
equipment
Deferred financing fee
Deferred acquisition cost

165,499,956

135,444,453

1,269,652

–

1,269,652

101,453

–

101,453

–

–

–

4,598,639

–

4,598,639

Allowance for write-down
of mineral properties

Current liabilities
Reclamation provision

–

(46,591,712)

$ 198,344,003

$ (49,356,731)

$

$

19,926,621

–

(46,591,712)

-

(41,925,231)

$ 148,987,272

$ 164,086,399

$ (44,030,067)

$ 120,056,332

$

$

$

$

19,926,621

18,091,457

–

(41,925,231)

18,091,457

1,250,151

–

1,250,151

1,485,301

–

1,485,301

24,829,792

139,099

24,968,891

32,656,570

–

32,656,570

Deferred charges

646,821

–

646,821

797,127

–

797,127

Minority interest

7,752,099

–

7,752,099

142,886

–

142,886

94,442,689

110,913,058

(44,030,067)

66,882,991

$ (49,356,731) $ 148,987,272

$ 164,086,399

$ (44,030,067)

$ 120,056,332

Long-term debts

Shareholders’ equity

143,938,519
$ 198,344,003

(49,495,830)
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The impact of the above differences between Canadian GAAP and United States GAAP on the income (loss)
for the period would be as follows:

Income for the year, as reported

$

2001

2000

1999

68,394

$ 3,304,556

$ 5,272,947

Compensation expense on granting
of stock options
Adjustments to mineral properties

(2,129,539)

(2,447,767)

(734,015)

(4,666,481)

(12,643,590)

(5,508,613)

Accretion of interest on convertible notes

71,039

—

—

Unrealized gain on trading securities

33,817

—

—

Loss for the year in accordance
with United States GAAP

$

(6,622,770)

$

(0.10)

$ (11,786,801)

$

(969,681)

$

$

(0.02)

Basic and diluted loss per share
in accordance with United States GAAP

(0.22)

The impact of the above differences between Canadian GAAP and United States GAAP on the consolidated
statements of cash flows would be as follows:
2001

2000

1999

11,017,482

$ 2,692,740

Cash flows provided by operating activities,
Canadian GAAP

$ 10,504,657

Adjustments to mineral properties

$

(2,281,481)

(988,443)

(1,239,955)

Cash flows provided by operating
activities United Stated GAAP

8,223,176

10,029,039

1,452,785

(18,765,699)

(2,817,345)

(19,395,661)
Cash flows used in investing activities,
Canadian GAAP

-

Adjustments to mineral properties

2,281,481

988,443

1,239,955

Cash flows used in investing activities,
United States GAAP

(17,114,180)

(17,777,256)

(1,577,390)

Cash flows provided by financing
activities, Canadian and United States GAAP

19,070,807

5,480,517

1,783,111

Effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents

(188,414)

33,279

(541,359)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

9,991,389

(2,234,421)

4,418,442

6,652,863

5,535,716

4,418,442

$ 6,652,863

14,409,831

$

1,117,147
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2001

2000

1999

Comprehensive loss:
Loss for the year in accordance
with United States GAAP

$

(6,622,770)

$

(11,786,801)

$

(969,681)

Net change in cumulative
translation adjustments

(4,331,411)

948,317

(1,150,268)

Net change in market value of
available-for-sale securities

(694,000)

(1,339,338)

–

Comprehensive loss in accordance
with United States GAAP

$

(11,648,181)

$

2001

(12,177,822)

2000

$

(2,119,949)

1999

Accumulated other
comprehensive loss:
Accumulated other comprehensive
loss, beginning of year

$

(3,023,189)

$

(2,632,168)

$ (1,481,900)

Change in cumulative translation
adjustments

(4,331,411)

948,317

(1,150,268)

Change in value of available-for-sale
securities

(694,000)

(1,339,338)

-

Accumulated other comprehensive
loss, end of year

$ (8,048,600)

$

(3,023,189)

$ (2,632,168)
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Crystallex International Corporation
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Crystallex International Corporation as at December
31, 2001 and 2000, and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian and United States generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, expressed in Canadian dollars, in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

SIGNED
Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 8, 2002
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underground mining at the Charlie Richards deposit in
El Callao and its Albino 1 concession in the gold-rich

Shareholders of Record
As of April 29, 2002 Crystallex International Corporation had approximately 453 shareholders of record. This
number excludes individual shareholders holding stock under nominee security positions.

Kilometre 88 region of Venezuela. Because of its
strategically located Revemin mill, Crystallex can execute

Share Prices

a “hub and spoke” strategy, which enables it to process

The Company’s Common Stock is traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the American Stock Exchange

material from all of its current Venezuelan concessions at

under the symbol KRY. Quarterly high and low stock prices for 2001 and 2000 were:

one location, effectively eliminating the need to develop
costly mill infrastructures for each mine.

2001
(In Canadian dollars)

First Quarter

High

Low

1.59

0.99

$

2000
$

High

Low

3.80

$1.33

The Company has held firm to its objective of maintaining

Second Quarter

2.85

1.10

4.25

1.85

Third Quarter

3.45

1.65

2.95

1.70

disciplined growth through internal development of

Fourth Quarter

3.33

1.80

2.25

1.19

exploration properties and the acquisition of producing
and near-term production properties in high potential

Forward-Looking Information
This annual report may contain certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the United States Securities

areas. Crystallex’s Board of Directors works closely with

Exchange Act of 1934 as amended. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this report, including,

its experienced management team to determine the

without limitation, statements regarding potential mineralization and reserves, exploration results and future plans and

economic feasibility of such acquisitions and to determine
the Company's strategic direction.

objectives of Crystallex, are forward-looking statements that involve various risks and uncertainties. There can be no
assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, and actual results and future events could differ materially from
those anticipated in such statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the
Company’s expectations are disclosed under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in documents filed from time to time
with Toronto Stock Exchange, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and other regulatory authorities.
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Crystallex has maintained a strong balance
sheet, which is amply illustrated in its
annual increases in shareholders equity.

The Company’s 14 percent increase in gold
production is attributed to its increased
operations in Venezuela.

Crystallex’s 16 percent revenue increase in
2001 attests to management’s successful
execution of the Company’s growth strategy.
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